Longwood, Florida 32750

(407) 830-9191

Florida Bar No: 157067 Co-Counsel for Petitioner

SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

GERALDINE SEALE,

CASE NO: 96,908

Petitioner,

LOWER TRIBUNAL NO: 2D98-04187

v.

CIRCUIT COURT NO: GC-G-98-804

EMSA CORRECTIONAL CARE, INC.,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Petitioner, GERALDINE SEALE, shall be referred to herein as "SEALE".

The Respondents, EMSA CORRECTIONAL CARE, INC., shall be referred to herein as "EMSA".

The Honorable Judge Cecelia M. Moore, Circuit Judge, shall be referred to herein as "TC" (Trial Court).

References to the Record on Appeal shall be abbreviated by the letter "V" (Volume) and followed by the applicable volume and page number.

References to the Appendix attached hereto shall be referred to by the letters "APP" followed by the applicable Appendix number.

CERTIFICATE OF TYPE SIZE AND STYLE

The type size and style used in this brief is Courier New, 12 point.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On 9/16/94, The Florida Commission of Human Relations and the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission entered into a "work sharing agreement" for the fiscal year 1995(V1-68-77). The work sharing agreement is in six parts.

The first part is an introduction(V1-68). In the introduction it was noted that the Florida Commission of Human Relations had jurisdiction over allegations of employment discrimination filed against Employers within the State of Florida, based on race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age, handicap or marital status. The introduction also noted that the EEOC has jurisdiction over allegations of employment discrimination occurring throughout the U.S. when based on race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age or discrimination based on disability(V1-68). The introduction further provided:

"In recognition of, and to the extent of the common jurisdiction and goals of the two (2) agencies, and in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants contained herein, the FEPA (FHCA) and the EEOC hereby agree to the terms of this work sharing agreement, which is designed to provide individuals with an efficient procedure for obtaining redress for their grievances under appropriate state or federal laws." (V1-68).

Part Two deals with the filing of charges of discrimination(V1-69-70). Under that Section the EEOC and FCHR designated the other as its agent for the purposes of receiving and

drafting charges. Furthermore, charges that were to be dual filed were to be done on EEOC charge form five (5) and each agency was to make every effort to forward all dual filed charges to the other agency within two (2) working days of receipt(V1-69).

Additionally, the work sharing agreement provided, under Part 2, the following:

"(H). The delegation of authority to receive charges contained in paragraph II-a does not include the right of one agency to determine the jurisdiction of the other agency over a charge." (V1-70).

Part Three purported to divide up initial charge processing responsibilities (V1-70-72). That section determines which charges would be initially investigated by the EEOC and which charges would be initially investigated by the FCHR(V1-70-72).

The fourth section of the work sharing agreement deals with an exchange of information between the FCHR and the EEOC(V1-72-73).

The fifth section deals with resolution of charges (V1-73-74).

Finally, the sixth section deals with implementation of the work sharing agreement (V1-74-75).

Similar work sharing agreements were entered into between the FCHR and the EEOC for the fiscal year 1996(V1-59-67) and 1997(V1-51-58).

SEALE began working for EMSA on 10/2/89(V1-24). On 12/18/95, SEALE was hospitalized for coronary blockage(V1-24). She was

terminated by EMSA on 1/22/96(V1-24).

On or about 2/26/96, SEALE transmitted a charge of discrimination against EMSA under the ADA as well as the Florida Human Rights Act to both the FCHR(V1-22-24) and the EEOC(V1-25-27). The FCHR acknowledged receipt of the charge of employment discrimination on 2/28/96(V1-20). The EEOC acknowledged receipt of the charge of discrimination on 2/28/96(V1-21).

Evidently, under the work sharing agreement, the EEOC investigated the Complaint. On 12/10/97, the EEOC issued a Notice of Right to Sue(V1-39), which provided as follows:

"This notice concludes the EEOC's processing of the above numbered charge. The EEOC found reasonable cause to believe that violations of the statutes occurred with respect to some or all of the matters alleged in the charge, but could not obtain a settlement with the Respondent that would provide relief for you. In addition, the EEOC has decided that it will not bring suit against the Respondent at this time based on this charge and will close it's file on this case. This does not mean that the EEOC is certifying that the Respondent is in compliance with the law, or that the EEOC will not sue the Respondent later or intervene later in the lawsuit if you decide to sue on your own behalf." (V1-39).

The Notice of Right to Sue also stated:

"Title VII, the Americans with Disabilities Act, and/or age discrimination in employment act: This will be the only Notice of your Right to Sue that we will send you. You may pursue this matter further by bringing suit in Federal or State Court against the Respondents named in the charge. Your suit must be filed within 90 days from your receipt of this Notice. Otherwise, your right to sue based on the above numbered charge will be lost." (V1-39).

Thereafter, on 3/19/98, SEALE filed a One Count Complaint in the Circuit Court of the Tenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Polk County, Florida(V1-9). The basis of the complaint was that EMSA violated the Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992 on the basis of handicap(V1-6-9). The complaint also alleged compliance with all conditions precedent(V1-4), and provided:

- "14. The Plaintiff, Geraldine Seale, has filed a timely written charge under oath with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) and the Florida Commission on Human Relations, alleging discrimination based upon handicap on the part of the Defendant and denial by the Defendant of her rights under the FCRA in that her employment with the Defendant was adversely impacted (i.e., demoted and constructively terminated) on the basis of her handicap, in violation of the FCRA.
- 15. Pursuant to agreement between the EEOC and the State of Florida, the charge was dual filed with the Florida Commission on Human Relations invoking the jurisdiction of this Court and the application of $\underline{\text{Fla. Stat.}}$ 760.01-760.11 to this cause of action.
- 16. More than 180 days have passed since the Plaintiff filed her charge.
- 17. The Plaintiff has filed this action pursuant to the provisions of <u>Fla. Stat.</u> 760.11(8), 760.11(4), and 760.11(5) of the FCRA.
- 18. All conditions precedent have been performed or have occurred." (V1-4).

Thereafter, on 5/5/98, EMSA filed their Answer(V1-10 - 14), wherein, as it relates to the conditions precedent, EMSA stated the following:

"11. Defendant is without sufficient knowledge or information to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations of paragraphs 14, 15, 16, 17 or 18."(V1-11).

Under the Affirmative Defenses, EMSA stated, inter alia:

"Plaintiff's claims are barred by the applicable statutes of limitations." (V1-12).

On 8/7/98, EMSA filed its Motion for Summary Judgment(V1-15-27). In the MSJ, EMSA contended the following:

"5. The one year limitations period for filing a civil action for employment discrimination under the Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992 begins to run at the expiration of the 180 day period in which the Florida Commission on Human Relations (hereinafter "Florida Commission") has to make a reasonable cause determination if the Florida Commission does not make a reasonable cause determination within the 180 day period. . "(V1-16).

EMSA further contended that the FCHR had 180 days from 2/28/96 in which to make a reasonable cause determination and that this 180 day period expired on 8/26/96 (V1-16-17). EMSA further contended that the FCHR did not make a reasonable cause determination by 8/26/96; thus, SEALE had one year from 8/26/96 in which to file a civil action, pursuant to the Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992(V1-17). That is, as argued by EMSA, that SEALE had until 8/26/97 to file this action (V1-17).

EMSA further contended that since SEALE did not file the suit until 3/19/98, she filed it outside the application statute of limitations and her action is time barred(V1-17).

EMSA also contended that even though the EEOC subsequently issued a Notice of Right to Sue to SEALE on 12/10/97, SEALE also allowed the 90 day time period for filing a Federal claim pursuant to that notice elapse(V1-17).

Thereafter, on or about 9/18/98, SEALE filed a Memorandum of Law in opposition to EMSA's MSJ(V1-30-77). In that Memorandum of Law, SEALE contended that when the EEOC issued a cause determination and Notice of Right to Sue on 12/10/97, that triggered the one year SOL pursuant to <u>F.S.</u> 760(V1-31). SEALE argued that she filed her lawsuit prior to 12/10/98 and therefore, it was timely(V1-31).

As part of SEALE's argument, SEAL contended that the FCHR's referral to the EEOC for initial investigation purposes does not divest the FCHR of jurisdiction of SEALE's claim or the application of State law(V1-31).

SEALE therefore argued that acceptance by the EEOC of SEALE's discrimination charge was acceptance of all potential state law claims under F.S. 760(V1-32-33).

SEALE also argued that the clear and plain language of <u>F.S.</u>
760.11(8) was permissive language, in that it does not require that
the aggrieved person proceed under (4) if the Commission fails to
conciliate or determine whether there is reasonable cause in any

complaint within 180 days of the filing of the Complaint, but rather provides that the aggrieved person "may" proceed under (4) as if the Commission determined there was reasonable cause.

SEALE also argued that although $\underline{F.S.}$ 760.11(3) places a good faith requirement on the FCHR to make best efforts to make a determination within a 180 day period, the FCHR is not divested of jurisdiction to continue an investigation beyond the 180 days, nor does $\underline{F.S.}$ 760.11(3) require or mandate that the complaining party commence her lawsuit within one year of the 181^{st} day after the charge is filed.

On or about 9/23/98, EMSA filed a Reply to SEALE's Memorandum of Law in opposition to EMSA's MSJ(V1-85-94). In that reply, EMSA disagreed with SEALE's contention that the SOL under the FCRA begins to run when the EEOC issues its notice of right to sue(V1-87-89).

On 9/23/98, a hearing on the aforesaid MSJ was held before the TC(V1-1-15). On 9/23/98, the Honorable TC entered her Order on EMSA's Motion for Summary Judgment(V1-97, 98). In that Order the TC found as follows:

"4. Plaintiff initially filed her charge of discrimination with both the Florida Commission and the EEOC on 2/28/96. The Florida Commission on Human Relations had 180 days from 2/28/96 in which to make a reasonable cause determination. Sec. 760.11(3)-(5) and (8), Fla. Stat. (1995); Milano v. Mold Master, Inc., 703 So.2d 1093 (Fla. 4^{th} DCA 1997).

- 5. Plaintiff failed to file suit within the one year limitations period, as she filed this action on 3/19/98.
- 6. Accordingly, this action is time barred. There is no genuine issue of material fact to be tried. Defendant is entitled to a judgment in its favor as a matter of law."(V1-97).

A final judgment was entered in favor of Defendant in 3/99.

Thereafter, SEALE appealed the TC's dismissal of her complaint to the Second District Court of Appeal.

On 9/29/99, the Second DCA entered a Per Curiam affirmance of the TC's Order(App-1). Specifically, the Second DCA's opinion states as follows:

"PER CURIAM.

AFFIRMED. <u>See Joshua v. City of Gainesville</u>, 734 So.2d 1068 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999), review granted, 735 So.2d 1285 (Fla. 1999)."(App.-1).

Thereafter, Claimant filed her Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction before this Honorable Court. On February 3, 2000, This Honorable Court entered an Order accepting jurisdiction and dispensing with oral argument. This Court also ordered Petitioner's Brief on the Merits to be served on or before February 28, 2000. This Brief is being served in accordance with this Honorable Court's Order accepting jurisdiction dated February 3, 2000.

A more specific reference to facts will be made during Argument.

POINTS ON APPEAL

Ι

DOES THE SECTION 760.11(5), FLORIDA STATUTES (1997), ONE YEAR STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS FOR FILING CIVIL ACTIONS "AFTER THE DATE OF DETERMINATION OF REASONABLE CAUSE BY THE COMMISSION" APPLY ALSO UPON THE COMMISSION'S FAILURE TO MAKE ANY DETERMINATION AS TO "REASONABLE CAUSE" WITHIN 180 DAYS AS CONTEMPLATED IN SECTION 760.11(8) FLORIDA STATUTES (1997), SO THAT AN ACTION FILED BEYOND THE ONE YEAR PERIOD IS TIME BARRED?

II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW WHEN IT HELD THAT PETITIONER/PLAINTIFF FAILED TO FILE SUIT WITHIN THE ONE YEAR LIMITATIONS PERIOD WHEN <u>F.S.</u> 760.11(5)(1997) PROVIDES THAT A CIVIL ACTION MAY BE COMMENCED NO LATER THAN ONE YEAR AFTER THE DATE OF DETERMINATION OF REASONABLE CAUSE BY THE COMMISSION, AND PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT WAS FILED WITHIN ONE YEAR FROM THE DATE THE FCHR, THROUGH ITS AGENCY, THE EEOC, MADE A DETERMINATION OF REASONABLE CAUSE.

III

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND DISMISSING PETITIONER/PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I

DOES THE SECTION 760.11(5), FLORIDA STATUTES (1997), ONE YEAR STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS FOR FILING CIVIL ACTIONS "AFTER THE DATE OF DETERMINATION OF REASONABLE CAUSE BY THE COMMISSION" APPLY ALSO UPON THE COMMISSION'S FAILURE TO MAKE ANY DETERMINATION AS TO "REASONABLE CAUSE" WITHIN 180 DAYS AS CONTEMPLATED IN SECTION 760.11(8) FLORIDA STATUTES (1997), SO THAT AN ACTION FILED BEYOND THE ONE YEAR PERIOD IS TIME BARRED?

<u>F.S.</u> 760.11(5)(1997) provides, <u>inter</u> <u>alia</u>:

". . . A civil action brought under this Section shall be commenced no later than one year after the date of

determination of reasonable cause by the commission. . . ."

F.S. 760.11(8)(1997) further provides:

". . .In the event that the Commission fails to conciliate or determine whether there is reasonable cause on any complaint under this Section within 180 days of the filing of the Complaint, an aggrieved person **may** proceed under subsection (4) as if the commission determined that there was reasonable cause."

The legislature, in passing <u>F.S.</u> 760.11(8)(1997) used the word "may", not "shall". The word "may" denotes a permissive term rather than the mandatory connotation of the word "shall", <u>Fixel v.</u> <u>Clevenger</u>, 285 So.2d 687 (Fla. 3^{rd} DCA 1973).

Therefore, an aggrieved person's ability to file suit after 180 days of filing the Complaint with the FCHR, in those instances where the Commission has not yet reached a determination whether there is reasonable cause, is purely elective, but not mandatory. Federal cases interpreting a similar provision in 42 U.S.C. 2000 e-5(f) have, in essence, ruled the same way, Forbes v. Reno, 893 F.Supp. 476 (U.S.D.C. WD Pa 1995).

Yet, despite the permissive language of <u>F.S.</u> 760.11(8)(1997), the trial court held that 760.11(8)(1997) was mandatory and if the Complaint was not filed within 1 year from the 180^{th} day after the filing of a complaint with the FCHR, the complaint would be time barred.

Such a ruling is completely contrary to the clear and

unequivocal language of F.S. 760.11(8)(1997).

It is Petitioner's position in this case that when 180 days has gone by and the FCHR has not yet made a determination as to whether or not there is reasonable cause on a complaint filed with them, the aggrieved party may elect not to wait any longer and proceed under F.S. 760.11(4)(1997) by either filing a civil action or requesting an administrative hearing, **OR** the aggrieved party may do nothing and allow the FCHR to continue its investigation and to attempt to resolve any disputes between the parties. This is exactly what happens under Federal law, <u>See</u> 29 C.F.R. 1601.28, Forbes v. Reno, supra.

ΙI

In the case at bar, the EEOC actually investigated SEALE'S complaint of discrimination in conformity with a work sharing agreement entered into between FCHR and EEOC. Thus, the EEOC, acting on behalf of the FCHR, entered a Notice of Reasonable Cause on 12/10/97. It was the EEOC'S Notice of Reasonable Cause on 12/10/97 that triggered SEALE'S right to file a civil action against Respondents pursuant to <u>F.S.</u> 760.11(4)(a) and (5)(1997), <u>Dawkins v. BellSouth Telecommunications</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 53 F.Supp.2d 1356 (M.D. Fla. 1999). SEALE filed her complaint on 3/19/98, well within one year of 12/10/97. SEALE'S complaint was timely filed.

Since the TC erred in ruling that SEALE did not file her suit timely, the TC also erred in granting EMSA's MSJ and in dismissing SEALE'S Complaint.

ARGUMENT

Ι

DOES THE SECTION 760.11(5), <u>FLORIDA STATUTES</u> (1997), ONE YEAR STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS FOR FILING CIVIL ACTIONS "AFTER THE DATE OF DETERMINATION OF REASONABLE CAUSE BY THE COMMISSION" APPLY ALSO UPON THE COMMISSION'S FAILURE TO MAKE ANY DETERMINATION AS TO "REASONABLE CAUSE" WITHIN 180 DAYS AS CONTEMPLATED IN SECTION 760.11(8) <u>FLORIDA STATUTES</u> (1997), SO THAT AN ACTION FILED BEYOND THE ONE YEAR PERIOD IS TIME BARRED?

The TC, in its Order of 9/23/98, found as follows:

- "4. Plaintiff initially filed her charge of discrimination with both the Florida Commission and the EEOC on 2/28/96. The Florida Commission on Human Relations had 180 days from 2/28/96 in which to make a reasonable cause determination. Sec. 760.11(3)-(5) and (8), Fla. Stat. (1995); Milano v. Moldmaster, Inc., 703 So.2d 1093 (Fla. 4^{th} DCA 1997).
- 5. Plaintiff failed to file suit within the one year limitations period, as she filed this action on 3/19/98.
- 6. Accordingly, this action is time barred. There is no genuine issue of material fact to be tried. Defendant is entitled to a judgment in its favor as a matter of law."(V1-97)."

This ruling by the TC is error, as a matter of law, and should be reversed. A civil action may be brought within one year after the date of determination of reasonable cause by the commission, $\underline{F.S.}$ 760.11(5)(1997). In the case at bar, the EEOC, acting as agent for

the FCHR under the work sharing agreement between the two agencies, issued a finding of reasonable cause on 12/10/97. SEALE'S complaint was filed on 3/19/98, within one year from the date of the issuance of the Notice of reasonable cause and therefore, was timely."

In the case at bar, SEALE filed a one count complaint alleging that EMSA violated the Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992 on the basis of handicap(V1-9).

F.S. 760.11(1)(1997) requires a person aggrieved by a violation of the Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992 to file a complaint with the FCHR within 365 days of the alleged violation,

See also Farancz v. Saint Mary's Hospital, Inc., 585 So.2d 1151

(Fla. 4th DCA 1991). Once a complaint is filed, the FCHR shall, except as otherwise provided:

". . .investigate the allegations in the complaint. Within 180 days of the filing of the complaint, the Commission shall determine if there is reasonable cause to believe that discriminatory practice has occurred in violation of the Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992. When the Commission determines whether or not there is reasonable cause, the Commission, by registered mail, shall promptly notify the aggrieved person and the Respondent of the reasonable cause determination, the date of such determination and the options available under this section." $\underline{F.S.}$ 760.11(3)(1997)

Although <u>F.S.</u> 760.11(3)(1997) states that within 180 days of the filing of the complaint, . . . the Commission **shall** determine if there is reasonable cause to believe that discriminatory practice has occurred. . .", the FCHR is not required to conclude its

investigations within 180 days. Rather, the use of the word "shall" is directory only, not mandatory.

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