IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GERALDINE SEALE,

Petitioner,

v.

EMSA CORRECTIONAL CARE, INC.,

Respondent.

Case No. SC96908

FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT Case No. 2D98-04187

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF Respectfully Submitted on behalf of EMSA Correctional Care, Inc.

JOHN M. HAMENT Florida Bar No. 937770 NIKHIL N. JOSHI Florida Bar No. 0123803 Kunkel Miller & Hament Attorneys for Respondent 1800 Second Street, Suite 970 Sarasota, Florida 34236 Telephone: 941-365-6006 Facsimile: 941-365-6209

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

For ease in reference, Respondent EMSA Correctional Care, Inc., which was the defendant and appellee below, will be referred to throughout this brief as "EMSA." Petitioner Geraldine Seale, who was the plaintiff and appellant below, will be referred to as "Seale."

Additionally, citations to the record on appeal shall be referred to by the letter "R" followed by the appropriate page number, for instance: (R. 3). Citations to the transcript shall be referred to by the letter "T" followed by the appropriate page number, for instance: (T. 3). Citations to the Initial Brief of Petitioner shall be referred to by "Pet. Brief" followed by the appropriate page number, for instance: (Pet. Brief, p. 3).

vii

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

At the very outset, it should be noted that the statement of the case and facts submitted by Seale appears to attempt to raise factual issues which were not raised below. For instance, although Seale attached a copy of the Worksharing Agreement Between Florida Commission on Human Relations and the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission for Fiscal Year 1996 to Plaintiff's Opposition to Defendant's Dispositive Motion for Summary Judgment and Memorandum of Law, (R. 30-77) submitted to the appellate court, she did not raise the provisions she discusses in her statement of the case and facts in the trial court. Compare Pet. Brief, pp. 1-2 with (R. 30-38; T. 1-15). More importantly, although Seale states that, in the trial court, she argued that the referral of a charge to the EEOC for investigation does not divest the Florida Commission of jurisdiction, her statement of the case and facts on appeal conveniently omits the fact that she also argued to the trial court that "the EEOC's investigation and cause determination are not "actions" by the FCHR." Compare Pet. Brief, pp. 5-6 (emphasis supplied) with (R. 33). Now, on appeal and to this Court, Seale appears to take the exact opposite position, arguing that "acceptance by the EEOC of Seale's discrimination charge was acceptance of all potential state law claims under F.S. 760." Pet. Brief, pp. 6-8 (emphasis supplied). Thus, to the extent that Seale is attempting to raise new facts and/or arguments on appeal, EMSA objects and submits that this Court may not consider facts or arguments

which were not presented to the trial court. <u>See</u>, <u>Wildwood Properties</u>, Inc. v. Archer of <u>Vero Beach</u>, Inc., 621 So. 2d 691 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993); <u>Nixon v. Halpin</u>, 620 So. 2d 796 (4th DCA 1993).

Apart from the above, EMSA respectfully submits the following statement of the case and facts is an accurate depiction of what occurred below:

Seale filed her *Complaint and Demand for Jury Trial* (hereinafter "Complaint") in the lower court on March 19, 1998. (R. 1-9). The Complaint contains one count alleging that EMSA violated the Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992 (hereinafter "FCRA") on the basis of handicap as defined by Section 760.01-.11, Florida Statutes (1995). (R. 1-9). Plaintiff's Complaint alleged that she filed a timely written charge of discrimination with the EEOC and Florida Commission on Human Relations; that the charge was dual filed; that more than 180 days have passed since the Appellant filed her charge; and that she filed this action pursuant to Section 760.11(4), (5) and (8), Florida Statutes (1995). The Complaint did <u>not</u> allege that Seale filed the lawsuit within the applicable limitations period. (R. 1-9).

EMSA timely filed its Answer to the Plaintiff's Complaint, asserting that it was without sufficient knowledge or information to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations regarding Seale's performance of conditions precedent. Additionally, EMSA asserted the defense that Seale's claims are barred by the applicable statute of limitations. Subsequently, EMSA discovered by requesting copies of the investigative files from the Florida Commission on Human Relations (hereinafter "Florida Commission"), and the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (hereinafter "EEOC"), that Seale failed to timely file this action. (R. 15-27). Thus, on August 10, 1998, EMSA moved for summary judgment on the basis that Seale's claim is time barred and notified Seale that its summary judgment motion would be heard on September 23, 1998. (R. 15-29).

EMSA's motion set forth the following undisputed facts: Seale initially filed her charge of discrimination with both the Florida Commission and the EEOC on February 28, 1996, as demonstrated by the charge transmittal forms from the Florida Commission to the EEOC and from the EEOC to the Florida Commission, as well as Seale's counsel's letters dated February 26, 1996, transmitting Seale's charge for filing to both the Florida Commission and the EEOC. (R.15-27). The Florida Commission did not make a reasonable cause determination. Seale filed this action on March 19, 1998. (R. 15-27).

Based upon these undisputed facts, EMSA argued that Seale had one year from August 26, 1996, in which to file a civil action pursuant to the FCRA. That is, Seale had from August 26, 1996 to August 26, 1997, to file this action. (R. 15-27, 78-84). She failed to do so. Instead, she filed her lawsuit nearly a year late. Accordingly, EMSA's motion argued that Seale's action is time barred; there is no genuine issue of material fact to be tried; and EMSA is entitled to a judgment in its favor as a matter of law. (R. 15-27, 78-84).

On September 21, 1998, EMSA filed Defendant's Memorandum of Law in Support of its Motion for Summary Judgment, setting forth its arguments in greater detail. (R. 78-84). Thereafter, Seale filed Plaintiff's Opposition to Defendant's Dispositive Motion for Summary Judgment and Memorandum of Law (hereinafter "Plaintiff's Opposition"). (R. 30-77). Plaintiff's Opposition conceded the undisputed fact that the FCHR never entered any cause determination. (R. 30). Additionally, although Seale did not concede that she filed her charge of discrimination with the FCRA on February 28, 1996, as EMSA asserted, she did concede that the charge was filed with the FCRA on March 12, 1996, and that the FCRA acknowledged receipt of the charge on April 1, 1996. (R. 31). Seale now concedes on appeal that her charge was, in fact, filed with the FCHR on February 28, 1996, rather than on March 12, 1996. (Initial Brief, p. 2-3).

Essentially, Plaintiff's Opposition argued that the Florida Commission could take more than 180 days to make a determination, and that, for various reasons, "equitable considerations should be utilized by the Court to prevent penalizing Seale for the FCHR's lack of due diligence." (R. 30-77). Seale never introduced any evidence or testimony to support her claim for "equitable tolling" or to otherwise raise a genuine issue of material fact, despite having ample time to do so. EMSA filed a reply to Plaintiff's Opposition refuting the arguments made by Seale. (R. 85-96).

On September 24, 1998, the Court heard EMSA's motion as scheduled, (T. 1-15), and entered an order granting the motion. (R. 100-01). The lower court ruled that there was no genuine issue of material fact and that Seale's action is barred, as a matter of law. (R. 100-01). Seale then filed a notice of appeal without first requesting that the trial court enter a final order. (R. 102-04).

On September 29, 1999, the Second District Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's order in a <u>per curiam</u> opinion, citing to <u>Joshua v. City of Gainesville</u>, 734 So.2d 1068 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999).

Seale then filed a Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction. This Honorable Court accepted jurisdiction by Order dated February 3, 2000. Seale served her initial Brief upon EMSA by mail on February 28, 2000. EMSA now timely files this Reply Brief.

II. <u>SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT</u>

Seale improperly raises factual issues and legal arguments which she did not raise below. Moreover, the trial court correctly ruled that Seale's action is time barred due to her failure to file suit within the one-year limitations period provided under the Florida Civil Rights Act ("FCRA"). Seale's arguments to the contrary are without merit. The plain and unambiguous terms of the FCRA, the controlling case law and the legislative history clearly support the trial court's ruling. Accordingly, the trial court's order granting summary judgment in favor of EMSA must be affirmed.

III. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. SEALE MAY NOT RAISE ARGUMENTS ON APPEAL WHICH SHE DID NOT MAKE IN THE TRIAL COURT.

At the outset, it should be noted that Seale may not contest the summary judgment entered against her on grounds which she did not bring to the attention of the trial court in opposition to EMSA's motion for summary judgment. <u>See, Wildwood Properties, Inc.</u> <u>v. Archer of Vero Beach, Inc.</u>, 621 So. 2d 691 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993); <u>Nixon v. Halpin</u>, 620 So. 2d 796 (4th DCA 1993). Doing so may be grounds to not consider the merits of the appeal. <u>Gladstone v. Smith</u>, 729 So.2d 1002 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999)(even when an appeal may have merit, a failure to adhere to the record on appeal can be fatal). It is axiomotic that arguments not made in the lower court may not be raised on appeal. In the present appeal, a comparison of the arguments presented in Seale's Brief to this Court with those she presented to the trial court will show that her arguments below were quite different from those she makes here. For instance, Plaintiff's Opposition, which she filed in the trial court, briefly claimed that the Florida Commission did not have to make a cause determination within 180 days, that it therefore retained jurisdiction beyond 180 days, and that the EEOC's Notice of Right to Sue triggered the one-year limitations period under the FCRA. (R. 33-34). However, she provided nothing further to support her position. In fact, the main point she asserted in the trial court was that "equitable considerations" should excuse her belated filing because, she claimed, the "common practice" before <u>Milano</u> was to assume that the one-year limitations period did not begin to run until the EEOC issued a Notice-of-Right-to-Sue regardless of the provisions of the FCRA.

Now, on appeal and to this Court, Seale has abandoned all of her "equity" arguments and, instead, goes into extensive arguments which she did not raise below in support of her claim that subsection (4) of section 760.11 of the FCRA should be interpreted as permissive, that is, as providing that the Florida Commission should, but does not have to, make a cause determination within 180 days. For the first time on appeal and now to this Court, she argues that the subsection (4) is similar to Title VII's provisions and, thus, should be interpreted in accordance with Title VII. (Pet. Brief, pp.

23-25). Similarly, on appeal and now to this Court, Seale claims for the first time that the facts of this case are distinguishable from those in the controlling cases of <u>Milano</u> and <u>Joshua</u>. In the lower court, she claimed that <u>Milano</u> was simply wrong. <u>Compare</u> Pet. Brief, pp. 21-23 <u>with</u> (R. 30-77; T. 1-15). Suffice it to say, the entire thrust of Seale's argument on appeal and to this Court is not what she presented to the trial court. Therefore, EMSA respectfully submits that Seale's arguments should be rejected outright, and the trial court's order should be affirmed. <u>Wildwood</u>, 621 So. 2d 691.

B. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT SEALE'S ACTION IS TIME BARRED, AS MATTER OF LAW, BECAUSE SHE FAILED TO FILE SUIT WITHIN THE APPLICABLE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS PERIOD.

1. <u>Overview of the Applicable Law.</u>

The Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992 ("FCRA") prescribes very specific administrative and civil remedies for discriminatory actions prohibited under its provisions. <u>See</u>, §760.11. Fla. Stat. (1995). First, any person aggrieved by a violation of the FCRA must file a complaint with the Florida Commission on Human Relations ("Florida Commission"). §760.11(1), Fla. Stat. (1995). The Florida Commission is then charged with investigating the complaint. §760.11(1)-(3), Fla. Stat. (1995). Specifically, **"[w]ithin 180 days of the filing of the complaint, the commission shall determine if there is reasonable cause** to believe that discriminatory practice has occurred in

violation of the Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992." §760.11(3), Fla. Stat. (1995) (emphasis supplied).

There are only three (3) ways in which an aggrieved person can ultimately file a civil action under the FCRA:

1) If the Florida Commission Finds Reasonable Cause:

If the Florida Commission finds reasonable cause to believe a violation has occurred, the aggrieved party may either bring a civil action or request an administrative

hearing. §760.11(4), Fla. Stat. (1995). Specifically, the statute provides that:

(4) In the event that the commission determines that <u>there is reasonable</u> <u>cause</u> to believe that a discriminatory practice has occurred in violation of the Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992, the aggrieved person may either:

(a) Bring a civil action against the person named in the complaint in any court of competent jurisdiction; or

(b) Request an administrative hearing under ss. 120.569 and 120.57.

The election by the aggrieved person of filing a civil action or requesting an administrative hearing under this subsection is the exclusive procedure available to the aggrieved person pursuant to this act.

\$760.11(4), Fla. Stat. (1995) (emphasis supplied). In other words, if the Florida Commission finds reasonable cause, the aggrieved party may choose to either file a civil action or request an administrative hearing. \$760.11(4)(a)-(b), Fla. Stat. (1995). No further remedy or option is provided in the statute.

Subsection five (5) then describes the procedure if a party chooses to file a civil action, and subsection six (6) describes the procedure if a party chooses to request an administrative hearing. §760.11(5)- (6), Fla. Stat. (1995). Subsection five (5), provides that "**[a] civil action brought under this section shall be commenced no later than 1 year after the date of determination of reasonable cause by the commission."** §760.11(5), Fla. Stat. (1995) (emphasis supplied). Similarly, subsection six (6) provides that "**[a]**n administrative hearing pursuant to paragraph (4)(b) must be requested no later than 35 days after the date of determination of reasonable cause by the commission. §760.11(6), Fla. Stat. (1995).

2) <u>If the Florida Commission Finds there is Not Reasonable Cause</u>:

If the commission determines that there <u>is not reasonable cause</u> to believe that a violation of the FCRA has occurred, the Florida Commission must dismiss the complaint. §760.11(7), Fla. Stat. (1995). The aggrieved party then has the option of requesting an administrative hearing. §760.11(7), Fla. Stat. (1995). If the aggrieved party requests an administrative hearing, then the statute provides the aggrieved person with the right to go to court if the hearing officer finds that a violation has occurred. §760.11(7), Fla. Stat. (1995). More specifically, if the aggrieved party requests an administrative hearing to challenge a no cause determination and prevails, the aggrieved party may choose to file

suit within one year of the administrative order finding a violation, just as if there had been a reasonable cause determination. §760.11(7)(c), Fla. Stat. (1995).

3) If the Florida Commission Makes No Determination Either Way:

(8) In the event that the commission fails to conciliate or determine whether there is reasonable cause on any complaint under this section within 180 days of the filing of the complaint, an aggrieved person may proceed under subsection (4), as if the commission determined that there was reasonable cause.

§760.11(8), Fla. Stat. (1995) (emphasis supplied).

In other words, if the Florida Commission fails to determine whether there is reasonable cause within 180 days after the aggrieved party files his or her complaint, the aggrieved party once again has the option to either bring a civil action within one year thereafter **or** request an administrative hearing within 35 days thereafter, just as she could have if the Florida Commission had issued a finding of reasonable cause. (6) & (8), Fla. Stat. (1995). Nothing else is permitted by the statute's terms. No other civil remedy or option is provided, nor could there be: the statute explicitly mandates that the two remedies provided in Section 760.11(4) are the exclusive remedies available.

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